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Cadre Holdings, Inc.
27,483,350 Shares of Common Stock
This prospectus supplement supplements the prospectus dated January 5, 2022 (as supplemented or amended from time to time, the “Prospectus”), which forms a part
of our registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-261852). This prospectus supplement is being filed to update and supplement the information in the Prospectus with the
information contained in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 11, 2022 (the “Quarterly Report”). Accordingly, we
have attached the Quarterly Report to this prospectus supplement. The Prospectus and this prospectus supplement relate to the offer and sale from time to time by the selling
securityholders named in the Prospectus (the “Selling Securityholders”), or their permitted transferees, of up to 27,483,350 shares of our common stock, $0.0001 par value per
share (“Common Stock”). We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of Common Stock by the Selling Securityholders pursuant to the Prospectus and this
prospectus supplement.
Our registration of the securities covered by the Prospectus and this prospectus supplement does not mean that the Selling Securityholders will offer or sell any of the
shares. The Selling Securityholders may sell the shares of Common Stock covered by the Prospectus and this prospectus supplement in a number of different ways and at
varying prices. We provide more information about how the Selling Securityholders may sell the shares in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution.”
Our Common Stock is listed on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CDRE”. On August 11, 2022, the closing price of our Common Stock was
$26.84.
This prospectus supplement updates and supplements the information in the Prospectus and is not complete without, and may not be delivered or utilized except in
combination with, the Prospectus, including any amendments or supplements thereto. This prospectus supplement should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus and if there
is any inconsistency between the information in the Prospectus and this prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in this prospectus supplement.
See the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 11 of the Prospectus to read about factors you should consider before buying our securities.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this
prospectus supplement or the Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
The date of this prospectus supplement is August 11, 2022.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
☒ Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the quarterly period ended: June 30, 2022
or

☐ Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from _________ to _________
Commission File Number: 001-40698

CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

38-3873146
(I.R.S. Employer
Identification Number)

13386 International Pkwy
Jacksonville, Florida
(Address of principal executive offices)

32218
(Zip code)

(904) 741-5400
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class

Trading Symbol

Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share

CDRE

New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days.
Yes ☑ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to submit and post such files).
Yes ☑ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer

☐

Non-accelerated filer

☒

Accelerated filer

☐

Smaller reporting company

☒

Emerging growth company

☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
As of August 8 , 2022, there were 37,332,271 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001, outstanding.
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This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S.
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Except where the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated, the terms the “Company”,
“Cadre”, “we,” “us,” and “our,” refer to the consolidated business of Cadre Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All statements in this Report,
other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations,
assumptions, hopes, beliefs, intentions, and strategies regarding future events and are based on currently available information as to the outcome and timing
of future events. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” “seem,” “seek,” “future,” “outlook,” or the
negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans, or intentions. The Company cautions you that
these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the
control of the Company, incident to its business.
Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to
predict and many of which are outside of our control. These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Report (or,
in the case of forward-looking statements incorporated herein by reference, if any, as of the date of the applicable filed document), and any accompanying
supplement, and current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward- looking statements
should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s views as of any subsequent date, and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to
predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Report. We cannot assure you that the
results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in
our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. In addition, statements that “we believe” and
similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future
acquisitions, partnerships, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.
As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially different from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:
●

the availability of capital to satisfy our working capital requirements;

●

anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we operate;

●

our ability to anticipate market needs or develop new or enhanced products to meet those needs;

●

our expectations regarding market acceptance of our products;

●

the success of competing products by others that are or become available in the markets in which we sell our products;

●

the impact of adverse publicity about the Company and/or its brands, including without limitation, through social media or in connection with brand
damaging events and/or public perception;

●

changes in political, economic or regulatory conditions generally and in the markets in which we operate;

●

the impact of political unrest, natural disasters or other crises, terrorist acts, acts of war and/or military operations;

●

our ability to maintain or broaden our business relationships and develop new relationships with strategic alliances, suppliers, customers,
distributors, or otherwise;

●

our ability to retain and attract senior management and other key employees;
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●

our ability to quickly and effectively respond to new technological developments;

●

the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business;

●

logistical challenges related to supply chain disruptions and delays;

●

the impact of inflationary pressures and our ability to mitigate such impacts with pricing and productivity;

●

the possibility that the Company may be adversely affected by other political, economic, business, and/or competitive factors;

●

the ability of our information technology systems or information security systems to operate effectively, including as a result of security breaches,
viruses, hackers, malware, natural disasters, vendor business interruptions or other causes;

●

our ability to properly maintain, protect, repair or upgrade our information technology systems or information security systems, or problems with
our transitioning to upgraded or replacement systems;

●

our ability to protect our trade secrets or other proprietary rights and operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others and prevent
others from infringing on the proprietary rights of the Company;

●

our ability to maintain a quarterly dividend; and

●

the increased expenses associated with being a public company.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Other risks
and uncertainties are and will be disclosed in our prior and future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The following
information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.
Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements.

4

Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
June 30, 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $817 and $645, respectively
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Assets held for sale
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $40,111 and $37,171, respectively
Deferred tax assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Income tax payable
Liabilities held for sale
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

$

$

December 31, 2021

28,862
56,521
76,630
6,932
5,956
251
175,152
46,997
8,133
55,177
78,027
5,990
369,476

$

29,145
35,896
918
106
10,321
76,386
142,244
3,589
959
223,178

$

$

33,857
48,344
63,978
10,353
3,171
278
159,981
33,053
7,059
42,415
66,262
3,026
311,796

19,328
40,736
1,255
128
13,174
74,621
146,516
1,297
722
223,156

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Mezzanine equity
Preferred stock ($0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021)

—

Shareholders' equity
Common stock ($0.0001 par value, 190,000,000 shares authorized, 37,032,271 and 34,383,350 shares issued and outstanding as
of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity

4
194,704
(105)
(48,305)
$

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

146,298
369,476

3
127,606
(1,917)
(37,052)
$

88,640
311,796
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring and transaction costs
Related party expense
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other expense
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
(Provision) benefit for income taxes
Net income (loss)

$

$

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

118,232
75,011
43,221

$

$

$

114,561
66,333
48,228

$

32,749
1,203
1,112
35,064
8,157

31,444
1,219
142
32,805
15,423

(1,439)
(756)
(2,195)
5,962
(1,517)
4,445 $

(5,621)
(485)
(6,106)
9,317
(2,502)
6,815 $

0.13
0.12

$
$

35,320,314
35,688,620

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Unrealized holding gains, net of tax(1)
Reclassification adjustments for gains included in net loss, net of tax(2)
Total unrealized gains on interest rate swaps, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax(3)
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

4,445

0.25
0.25

6,815

987
15
1,002
(2,038)
(1,036)
3,409 $

—
—
—
254
254
7,069

$

86,699
1,802
1,234
89,735
(6,325)

$
$

27,483,350
27,483,350
$

222,638
139,228
83,410

59,495
1,540
295
61,330
30,857

(2,929)
(961)
(3,890)
(10,215)
4,495
(5,720) $

(0.16)
(0.16)

225,097
132,910
92,187

$
$

34,888,703
34,888,703

(10,665)
(529)
(11,194)
19,663
(5,984)
13,679

0.50
0.50
27,483,350
27,483,350

$

(5,720) $

13,679

$

4,064
146
4,210
(2,398)
1,812
(3,908) $

—
—
—
538
538
14,217

(1) Net of income tax expense of $329 and $1,355 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.
(2) Amounts reclassified to net income (loss) relate to gains on interest rate swaps and are included in Interest expense above. Amounts are net of income
tax expense of $5 and $49 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.
(3) Net of income tax benefit of $376 and $94 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $394 and income tax expense of
$187 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of original issue discount and debt issue costs
Amortization of inventory step-up
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Provision for (recoveries from) losses on accounts receivable
Foreign exchange loss
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of impact of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facilities
Principal payments on revolving credit facilities
Principal payments on term loans
Principal payments on insurance premium financing
Payment of capital leases
Taxes paid in connection with employee stock transactions
Proceeds from secondary offering, net of underwriter discounts
Deferred offering costs
Dividends distributed
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information:
Cash paid for income taxes, net
Cash paid for interest
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Accruals and accounts payable for capital expenditures

$

$

13,679

7,380
367
1,344
(4,594)
26,327
240
1,107

7,020
2,029
—
4,607
—
(308)
(267)

(3,243)
(1,461)
3,616
(345)
25,018

(2,429)
(7,124)
2,292
9,208
28,707

(2,473)
(55,039)
(57,512)

(1,506)
—
(1,506)

$

48,000
(48,000)
(5,009)
(2,853)
(22)
(6,216)
49,703
(2,715)
(5,533)
27,355
144
(4,995)
33,857
28,862

$

176,548
(176,548)
(13,687)
(1,225)
(21)
—
—
—
—
(14,933)
42
12,310
2,873
15,183

$
$

241
2,330

$
$

473
8,524

$

17

$

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2021
Net loss
Dividends declared
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued under employee
compensation plans
Common stock withheld related to net share
settlement of stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Balance, March 31, 2022
Net income
Issuance of common stock in secondary
offering, net of underwriter discounts and
issuance costs
Dividends declared
Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Balance, June 30, 2022

34,383,350
—
—
—

$

3
—
—
—

$ 127,606
—
—
22,436

580,990

—

1,152

(182,069)
—
—
34,782,271 $
—

—
—
—
3
—

(6,216)
—
—
$ 144,978 $
—

2,250,000
—
—
—
—
37,032,271

1
—
—
—
—
4

46,987
—
2,739
—
—
$ 194,704

$

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2020
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, March 31, 2021
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, June 30, 2021

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

27,483,350
—
—
27,483,350
—
—
27,483,350

$
$

$

3
—
—
3
—
—
3

$

(1,917)
—
—
—

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$ 48,670
—
—
$ 48,670
—
—
$ 48,670

—
(360)
3,208
931
—

—
—
—
(49,967)
4,445

$

$

$

(36,962)
6,864
—
(30,098)
6,815
—
(23,283)

88,640
(10,165)
(2,750)
22,436
1,152

$

—
(2,783)
—
—
—
(48,305) $

Accumulated
Deficit

(2,860) $
—
284
(2,576) $
—
254
(2,322) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

Shareholders'
Equity

(37,052) $
(10,165)
(2,750)
—
—

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

$

$

—

—
—
—
(2,038)
1,002
(105)

$

Accumulated
Deficit

(6,216)
(360)
3,208
95,945
4,445
46,988
(2,783)
2,739
(2,038)
1,002
146,298

Shareholders'
Equity

$
$

$

8,851
6,864
284
15,999
6,815
254
23,068
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations
Cadre Holdings, Inc., D/B/A The Safariland Group (the “Company”, “Cadre”, “we”, “us”, and “our”), a Delaware corporation, began operations on
April 12, 2012. The Company, headquartered in Jacksonville, Florida, is a global leader in manufacturing and distributing safety and survivability products
and other related products for the law enforcement, first responder and military markets. The business operates through 16 manufacturing plants within the
U.S., Mexico, Canada, the United Kingdom, Italy, France, and Lithuania, and sells its products worldwide through its direct sales force, distribution
channel and distribution partners, online stores, and third-party resellers.
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States ("GAAP") and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial
reporting, and include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries, and other entities consolidated as required by GAAP. Accordingly, they
do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for annual audited financial statements. The unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements and include all adjustments, which are normal and
recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement presentation. These interim consolidated financial statements and notes thereto should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s most recently completed annual consolidated financial statements. All adjustments considered necessary for a fair
presentation have been included. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Stock Split
In July 2021, the Company effected a 50-for-1 stock split of its common stock and preferred stock. All share and per share information has been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split for all periods presented.
Secondary Offering
On June 9, 2022, the Company completed a secondary offering in which the Company issued and sold 2,250,000 shares of common stock at a price
of $23.50 per share. The Company’s net proceeds from the sale of shares were $46,988 after underwriter discounts and commissions, fees and expenses
of $2,715, of which $2,000 was paid to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by Warren Kanders, our Chief Executive Officer.
On July 14, 2022, the underwriters exercised a portion of their over-allotment option and purchased an additional 300,000 shares of common stockat a
price of $23.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $6,627 after underwriter discounts and commissions, fees and expenses of $423.
Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). As such, we are eligible for
exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not limited
to, presenting only two years of audited financial statements, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation, and an exemption from the requirements to obtain a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.
In addition, an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.
This provision allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this provision of the JOBS Act. As a result, we may not be subject to new or revised accounting
standards at the same time as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. Therefore, our consolidated financial statements may not be
comparable to those of companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
The presentation of revenue by channel previously reported in the notes to the consolidated financial statements has been reclassified to conform to the
current financial statement presentation.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company follows the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This guidance also establishes
the following three-level hierarchy based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability on the measurement date:
Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities traded in active markets.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect assumptions about what market participants would use in pricing assets or liabilities based on the best
information available.
The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities, income tax payable and debt. The carrying amounts of certain of these financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid
expenses, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and income tax payable approximate their current fair value due to the relatively shortterm nature of these accounts.
The following table presents our fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
June 30, 2022
Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2

Carrying
amount

Level 3

December 31, 2021
Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2

Carrying
amount

Level 3

Assets:
Interest rate swap (Note 6)

$

6,830

$

—

$

6,830

$

—

$

1,607

$

—

$

1,607

$

—

Liabilities:
Interest rate swap (Note 6)

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

389

$

—

$

389

$

—

There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between levels during the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
The carrying value of our long-term debt obligations approximates the fair value, as the long-term debt was entered into recently and contains a floating
interest rate component.
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CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company tests goodwill and intangible assets determined to have indefinite useful lives for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that assets might be impaired. The Company performs these annual impairment tests as of October 31st each year.
In evaluating goodwill for impairment, qualitative factors are considered to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. Some of these qualitative factors may include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, a
change in financial performance, or entity-specific events. If, through this qualitative assessment, the conclusion is made that it is more likely than not that
a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount, the Company performs a two-step goodwill impairment test. The first step involves a
comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of
the process is performed, which compares the implied value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying value of the goodwill of that reporting unit. If
the carrying value of the goodwill of a reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to
that excess.
The Company determines the fair value of its reporting units based on a combination of the income approach and market approach, weighted based on
the circumstances. Both values are discounted using a rate that reflects the Company’s best estimate of the weighted average cost of capital of a market
participant and is adjusted for appropriate risk factors.
Revenue Recognition
The Company derives revenue primarily from the sale of physical products. The Company recognizes revenue when a contract exists with a customer
that specifies the goods and services to be provided at an agreed upon sales price and when the performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the goods
or service to the customer. The performance obligation is considered satisfied when control transfers, which is generally determined when products are
shipped or delivered to the customer but could be delayed until the receipt of customer acceptance, depending on the terms of the contract. Sales are made
on normal and customary short-term credit terms or upon delivery for point of sale transactions.
The Company enters into contractual arrangements primarily with customers in the form of individual customer orders which specify the goods,
quantity, pricing, and associated order terms. The Company has some long-term contracts that may contain research and development performance
obligations that are satisfied over time. The Company invoices the customer once the billing milestone is reached and collects under customary short-term
credit terms. For long-term contracts, the Company recognizes revenue using the input method based on costs incurred, as this method is an appropriate
measure of progress toward the complete satisfaction of the performance obligation. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is possible
that estimates of costs to complete a performance obligation will be revised in the near-term. For those performance obligations for which revenue is
recognized using a cost-to-cost input method, changes in total estimated costs, and related progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, are recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the revisions to the estimates are made. When the current estimate of total
costs for a performance obligation indicates a loss, a provision for the entire estimated loss on the unsatisfied performance obligation is made in the period
in which the loss becomes evident.
At the time of revenue recognition, the Company also provides for estimated sales returns and miscellaneous claims from customers as reductions to
revenues. The estimates are based on historical rates of product returns and claims. The Company accrues for such estimated returns and claims with an
estimated accrual and associated reduction of revenue. Additionally, the Company records inventory that it expects to be returned as part of inventories,
with a corresponding reduction to cost of goods sold.
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Charges for shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in net sales and the corresponding shipping and handling expenses are included
in cost of goods sold in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). We consider our costs related to
shipping and handling after control over a product has transferred to a customer to be a cost of fulfilling the promise to transfer the product to the customer.
Sales commissions paid to employees as compensation are expensed as incurred for contracts with service periods less than a year. For contracts with
service periods greater than a year, these costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the contract. These costs are recorded in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
Product Warranty
Some of the Company’s manufactured products carry limited warranty provisions for defects in quality and workmanship. A warranty reserve is
established at the time of sale to cover estimated costs based on the Company’s history of warranty repairs and replacements, and is recorded in cost of
goods sold in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s accrued warranties, which is recorded in accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Beginning accrued warranty expense
Current period claims
Provision for current period sales
Ending accrued warranty expense

$

1,233
29
165
1,427

$

$
$

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021

1,140 $
(85)
89
1,144 $

1,256
(87)
258
1,427

$
$

1,133
(141)
152
1,144

Net Income (Loss) per Share
Basic income or loss per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
periods presented. Diluted income or loss per share is calculated by adjusting weighted average shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of potential
common shares, determined using the treasury-stock method. The calculation of weighted average shares outstanding and net income (loss) per share are as
follows:
Three months ended June 30,
2022
2021

Net income (loss)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock-based awards
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

4,445

$
$

$

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021

6,815

$

(5,720)

$

13,679

35,320,314

27,483,350

34,888,703

27,483,350

368,306
35,688,620

—
27,483,350

—
34,888,703

—
27,483,350

0.13
0.12

$
$

0.25
0.25

$
$

(0.16)
(0.16)

$
$

0.50
0.50

For the six months ended June 30, 2022, 3,121 restricted stock awards were excluded from diluted weighted average shares outstanding because the
impact would be anti-dilutive due to a net loss in the period. There were no dilutive instruments outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30,
2021.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which is intended to increase transparency and comparability among
organizations by requiring the recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. In July 2018, the FASB issued additional
guidance which provided an additional transition method for adopting the updated guidance. Under the additional transition method, entities may elect to
recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. In June 2020, the FASB issued additional
guidance which extends the effective date of ASU 2016-02 for emerging growth companies to begin in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this standard for its annual period as of January 1,
2022 by utilizing the effective date option of the modified retrospective transition approach, which does not require application of the guidance to
comparative periods in the year of adoption. The primary effect of adoption will be recording ROU assets and corresponding lease liabilities for current
operating leases. We believe the adoption of this standard will have a significant effect on our consolidated balance sheets and currently estimate a ROU
asset and lease liability of $11,800 to $13,200 to be recorded on January 1, 2022. We do not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a
significant impact on our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) or our consolidated statements of cash flows.
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. ASU 2016-13 includes an impairment model (known as the current expected credit loss model) that is based on expected losses rather than
incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity recognizes as an allowance its estimate of expected credit losses, which the FASB believes will result in
more timely recognition of such losses. The use of forecasted information is intended to incorporate more timely information in the estimate of expected
credit loss. In November 2019, the FASB issued additional guidance which extends the effective date of ASU 2016-13 for emerging growth companies to
begin in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The Company plans to adopt this standard on January 1, 2023 and is
currently in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. ASU 2019-12 simplifies
the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and improves consistent application of and simplifies
GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying existing guidance. For emerging growth companies, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
There were no other new accounting standards that the Company expects to have a potential material impact to the financial position or results of
operations upon adoption.
2.

ACQUISITIONS

Radar Acquisition
On January 11, 2022, Safariland, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the accretive acquisition of Radar Leather Division S.r.l.
(“Radar”), a premiere family-owned duty gear business based in Italy that specializes in the production of high-quality holsters, belts, duty belts, and other
accessories.
The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. Total acquisition-related costs for the acquisition of Radar were $627, of which $204 was
incurred and recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2022.
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Total consideration, net of cash acquired, was $19,365 for 100% of the equity interests in Radar. The total consideration was as follows:
Cash paid
Less: cash acquired
Total consideration, net

$
$

20,844
(1,479)
19,365

The following table summarizes the total purchase price consideration and the preliminary fair value amounts recognized for the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, which have been estimated at their fair values. The fair value estimates for the purchase price allocation are based on the Company’s
best estimates and assumptions as of the reporting date and are considered preliminary. Since our initial purchase price allocation, we have decreased
goodwill by $422 for revisions made to cash paid. The fair value measurements of all identifiable assets and liabilities, and the resulting goodwill related to
the Radar acquisition are subject to change and the final purchase price allocation could be different from the amounts presented below. We expect to
finalize the valuations as soon as practicable, but no later than one year from the date of the acquisition. The excess of purchase consideration over the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill for the Radar acquisition is included in the Products segment and reflects
synergies and additional legacy growth and profitability expected from this acquisition through expansion into new markets and customers.
Total consideration, net

$

19,365

Accounts receivable

$

2,347

Inventories

2,500

Prepaid expenses

682

Other current assets

612

Property and equipment

3,053

Intangible assets

10,200

Goodwill

6,289

Total assets acquired

25,683

Accounts payable

1,120

Deferred tax liabilities

2,548

Accrued liabilities

2,106

Long-term debt

544

Total liabilities assumed
$

Net assets acquired

6,318
19,365

In connection with the acquisition, the Company acquired exclusive rights to Radar’s trademarks, customer relationships, and product technologies. The
amounts assigned to each class of intangible asset and the related average useful lives are as follows:
Gross

Customer relationships
Technology

$

Trademarks
$

Total

14

Average Useful
Life

9,300
600

15
10

300
10,200
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The full amount of goodwill of $6,289 is expected to be non-deductible for tax purposes. No pre-existing relationships existed between the Company and
Radar prior to the acquisition. Radar revenue and cost of goods sold are included in the Products segment from the date of acquisition. The acquisition was
not material to our consolidated financial statements.
Cyalume Acquisition
On May 4, 2022, Safariland, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the accretive acquisition of Cyalume Technologies, Inc, CT
SAS Holdings, Inc. and Cyalume Technologies SAS (collectively “Cyalume”) . Cyalume is engaged in the design and manufacture of proprietary chemical
illumination solutions for a diverse range of products, including light sticks, infrared products, safety markings and non-pyrophoric training ammunition.
The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. Acquisition-related costs for the acquisition of Cyalume were$2,036 and $2,307 for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.
Total consideration, net of cash acquired, was $35,674 for 100% of the equity interests in Cyalume. The total consideration was as follows:
Cash paid
Less: cash acquired
Total consideration, net

$
$

37,508
(1,834)
35,674

The following table summarizes the total purchase price consideration and the preliminary fair value amounts recognized for the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, which have been estimated at their fair values. The fair value estimates for the purchase price allocation are based on the Company’s
best estimates and assumptions as of the reporting date and are considered preliminary. The fair value measurements of identifiable assets and liabilities,
and the resulting goodwill related to the Cyalume acquisition are subject to change and the final purchase price allocation could be different from the
amounts presented below. We expect to finalize the valuations as soon as practicable, but no later than one year from the date of the acquisition. The excess
of purchase consideration over the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill for the Cyalume acquisition is included in the
Products segment and reflects synergies and additional legacy growth and profitability expected from this acquisition through expansion into new markets
and customers.
Total consideration, net

$

Accounts receivable

$

Inventories

35,674
3,302
10,908

Prepaid expenses

255

Other current assets

10

Property and equipment

11,701

Intangible assets

8,300

Goodwill

6,641

Total assets acquired

41,117

Accounts payable

1,080

Deferred tax liabilities

2,497

Accrued liabilities

1,578

Other long-term liabilities

288

Total liabilities assumed
$

Net assets acquired

15

5,443
35,674
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In connection with the acquisition, the Company acquired exclusive rights to Cyalume’s trademarks, customer relationships, and product technologies.
The amounts assigned to each class of intangible asset and the related average useful lives are as follows:
Average Useful
Life

Gross

Customer relationships
Technology

$

Trademarks
$

Total

3,900
3,600

15
10

800
8,300

Indefinite

The full amount of goodwill of $6,641 is expected to be non-deductible for tax purposes. No pre-existing relationships existed between the Company and
Cyalume prior to the acquisition. Cyalume revenue and cost of goods sold are included in the Products segment from the date of acquisition. The
acquisition was not material to our consolidated financial statements.
3.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
The following tables disaggregate net sales by channel and geography:
Three months ended June 30,
2022
2021

U.S. state and local agencies (a)
Commercial
U.S. federal agencies
International
Other
Net sales

$

$

66,442
11,327
9,448
29,506
1,509
118,232

$

$

64,449
7,591
10,486
30,040
1,995
114,561

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021

$

$

124,365
22,361
17,362
56,525
2,025
222,638

$

$

123,826
19,433
26,079
52,034
3,725
225,097

(a) Includes all Distribution sales
Three months ended June 30,
2022
2021

United States
International

$
$

88,726
29,506
118,232

$
$

84,521
30,040
114,561

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021

$ 166,113
56,525
$ 222,638

$ 173,063
52,034
$ 225,097

Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities are recorded as a component of other liabilities when customers remit cash payments in advance of the Company satisfying
performance obligations which are satisfied at a future point of time. Contract liabilities are reduced when the performance obligation is satisfied. Contract
liabilities are included in accrued liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and totaled $6,272 and $10,949 as of June 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively. Revenue recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 from amounts included in contract liabilities as
of December 31, 2021 was $2,225 and $7,216, respectively.
Remaining Performance Obligations
As of June 30, 2022, we had $18,395 of remaining performance obligations, which included amounts that will be invoiced and recognized in future
periods. The remaining performance obligations are limited only to arrangements that meet the definition of a contract under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, as of June 30, 2022. We expect to recognize approximately 63% of this balance over the next twelve months and expect the
remainder to be recognized in the following two years.
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4.

INVENTORIES
The following table sets forth a summary of inventories stated at lower of cost or net realizable value, as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

June 30, 2022

Finished goods
Work-in-process
Raw materials and supplies

$
$

5.

30,492
8,881
37,257
76,630

December 31, 2021

$

28,707
4,053
31,218
63,978

$

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
The following table summarizes the changes in goodwill for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022:
Products

Balance, December 31, 2021
Radar acquisition
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, March 31, 2022
Radar acquisition measurement period adjustment
Cyalume acquisition
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, June 30, 2022

$
$

$

63,646
6,711
(463)
69,894
(422)
6,641
(702)
75,411

Distribution

$
$

$

2,616
—
—
2,616
—
—
—
2,616

Total

$
$

$

66,262
6,711
(463)
72,510
(422)
6,641
(702)
78,027

Gross goodwill and accumulated impairment losses was $85,612 and $7,585, respectively, as of June 30, 2022 and $73,899 and $7,585, respectively, as
of December 31, 2021.

17

Table of Contents

CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets such as certain customer relationships and patents on core technologies and product technologies are amortizable over their estimated
useful lives. Certain trade names and trademarks which provide exclusive and perpetual rights to manufacture and sell their respective products are deemed
indefinite-lived and are therefore not subject to amortization.
Intangible assets consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:
June 30, 2022
Accumulated
amortization

Gross

Definite lived intangibles:
Customer relationships
Technology
Tradenames
Non-compete agreements

$

Indefinite lived intangibles:
Tradenames
Total

$

85,908
15,956
6,492
977
109,333

$

17,467
126,800

$

$

(55,789)
(11,124)
(3,733)
(977)
(71,623)

$

—
(71,623)

Net

$

Weighted
Average
Useful Life

11
8
4
4

$

30,119
4,832
2,759
—
37,710
17,467
55,177

Indefinite

$

December 31, 2021
Accumulated
amortization

Gross

Definite lived intangibles:
Customer relationships
Technology
Tradenames
Non-compete agreements

$

Indefinite lived intangibles:
Tradenames
Total

$

74,078
11,978
6,473
1,037
93,566

$

16,674
110,240

$

$

(52,536)
(10,988)
(3,264)
(1,037)
(67,825)

$

—
(67,825)

Net

$

Weighted
Average
Useful Life

11
7
4
4

$

21,542
990
3,209
—
25,741
16,674
42,415

Indefinite

$

The Company recorded amortization expense of $2,240 and $2,179 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, of which $130 and
$200 was included in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the respective periods.
Amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was $4,397 and $4,365, respectively, of which $180 and $398 was included in cost
of goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the respective periods.
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The estimated amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the remaining six months of 2022, the next four years and thereafter is as
follows:
Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

$
6.

4,277
7,923
5,029
3,071
2,661
14,749
37,710

DEBT
The Company’s debt is as follows:
June 30, 2022

Short-term debt:
Insurance premium financing
Current portion of term loan

$
$

Long-term debt:
Revolver
Term loan
Other
$
Unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs
Total long-term debt, net

$

December 31, 2021

321
10,000
10,321
—
143,564
506
144,070
(1,826)
142,244

$
$

$
$

3,174
10,000
13,174
—
148,564
—
148,564
(2,048)
146,516

The following summarizes the aggregate principal payments of our long-term debt, excluding debt discount and debt issuance costs, for the remaining
six months of 2022, the next four years and thereafter:
Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total principal payments

$

$

19

5,000
10,000
10,127
10,127
118,690
126
154,070
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New Credit Facility
On August 20, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company refinanced its existing credit facilities and entered into a new credit agreement whereby
Safariland, LLC, as borrower (the “Borrower”), the Company and certain domestic subsidiaries of the Borrower, as guarantors (the “Guarantors”), closed
on and received funding under a credit agreement (initially entered into on July 23, 2021), pursuant to a First Amendment to Credit Agreement
(collectively, the “New Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”), as administrative agent, and the several lenders from time to
time party thereto (together with PNC, the “Lenders”) pursuant to which the Borrower (i) borrowed $200,000 under a term loan (the “Term Loan”), and (ii)
may borrow up to $100,000 under a revolving credit facility (including up to $15,000 for letters of credit and up to $10,000 for swing line loans) (the
“Revolving Loan”). Each of the Term Loan and the Revolving Loan mature on July 23, 2026. Commencing December 31, 2021, the New Term Loan
requires scheduled quarterly payments in amounts equal to 1.25% per quarter of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan, with the balance
due at maturity. The New Credit Agreement is guaranteed, jointly and severally, by the Guarantors and, subject to certain exceptions, secured by a firstpriority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Borrower and the Guarantors pursuant to a Security and Pledge Agreement and a Guaranty
and Suretyship Agreement, each dated as of the Closing Date.
There were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Loan as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021. As of June 30, 2022, there were $2,292 in
outstanding letters of credit and $97,708 of availability.
The Borrower may elect to have the Revolving Loan and Term Loan under the New Credit Agreement bear interest at a base rate or a LIBOR rate, in
each case, plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin for these borrowings will range from 0.50% to 1.50% per annum, in the case of base rate
borrowings, and 1.50% to 2.50% per annum, in the case of LIBOR borrowings, in each case based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net
leverage ratio. The New Credit Agreement also requires the Borrower to pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the loan commitments. Such
commitment fee will range between 0.175% and 0.25% per annum, and is also based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ratio.
The New Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on
additional indebtedness, dividends, and other distributions, entry into new lines of business, use of loan proceeds, capital expenditures, restricted payments,
restrictions on liens on the assets of the Borrowers or any Guarantor, transactions with affiliates, amendments to organizational documents, accounting
changes, sale and leaseback transactions, dispositions, and mandatory prepayments in connection with certain liquidity events. The New Credit Agreement
contains certain restrictive debt covenants, which require us to: (i) maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25 to 1.00, starting with the quarter
ended December 31, 2021, which is to be determined for each quarter end on a trailing four quarter basis and (ii) maintain a quarterly maximum
consolidated total net leverage ratio of 3.75 to 1.00 from the quarter ended December 31, 2021 until the quarter ended September 30, 2022, and thereafter
3.50 to 1.00, which is in each case to be determined on a trailing four quarter basis; provided that under certain circumstances and subject to certain
limitations, in the event of a material acquisition, we may temporarily increase the consolidated total net leverage ratio by up to 0.50 to 1.00 for four fiscal
quarters following such acquisition. The New Credit Agreement contains customary events of default that include, among others, non-payment of principal,
interest or fees, violation of covenants, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, failure to make payment on, or defaults with respect to, certain other
material indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments and change of control provisions. Upon the occurrence of an event of default,
and after the expiration of any applicable grace period, payment of any outstanding loans under the New Credit Agreement may be accelerated and the
Lenders could foreclose on their security interests in the assets of the Borrowers and the Guarantors.
Canadian Credit Facility
On October 14, 2021, Med-Eng Holdings ULC and Pacific Safety Products Inc., the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries, as borrowers (the “Canadian
Borrowers”), and Safariland, LLC, as guarantor (the “Canadian Guarantor”), closed on a line of credit pursuant to a Loan Agreement (the “Canadian Loan
Agreement”) and a Revolving Line of Credit Note (the “Note”) with PNC Bank Canada Branch (“PNC Canada”), as lender pursuant to which the Canadian
Borrowers may borrow up to CDN$10,000 under a revolving line of credit (including up to $3,000 for letters of credit) (the “Revolving Canadian Loan”).
The Revolving Canadian Loan matures on July 23, 2026.
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The Canadian Loan Agreement is guaranteed by the Canadian Guarantor pursuant to a Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement (the “Canadian Guaranty
Agreement”).
The Canadian Borrowers may elect to have borrowings either in United States dollars or Canadian dollars under the Canadian Loan Agreement, which
will bear interest at a base rate or a LIBOR rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin, in the case of borrowings in United States dollars, or at a Canadian
Prime Rate (as announced from time to time by PNC Canada) or a Canadian deposit offered rate (“CDOR”) as determined from time to time by PNC
Canada in accordance with the Canadian Loan Agreement. The applicable margin for these borrowings will range from 0.50% to 1.50% per annum, in the
case of base rate borrowings and Canadian Prime Rate borrowings, and 1.50% to 2.50% per annum, in the case of LIBOR borrowings and CDOR
borrowings. The Canadian Loan Agreement also requires the Canadian Borrowers to pay (i) an unused line fee on the unused portion of the loan
commitments in an amount ranging between 0.175% and 0.25% per annum, based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ratio,
and (ii) an upfront fee equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the Note.
There were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Canadian Loan as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.
The Canadian Loan Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants, including, among
others, limitations on additional indebtedness, entry into new lines of business, entry into guarantee agreements, making of any loans or advances to, or
investments in, any other person, restrictions on liens on the assets of the Canadian Borrowers and mergers, transfers of assets and acquisitions. The
Canadian Loan Agreement and Note also contain customary events of default that include, among others, non-payment of principal, interest or fees,
violation of covenants, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, failure to make payment on, or defaults with respect to, certain other material
indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments and change of control provisions.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, and after the expiration of any applicable grace period, payment of any outstanding loans under the Canadian
Loan Agreement may be accelerated.
Interest Rate Swaps
In September 2021, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge forecasted monthly interest rate payments on our floating rate debt. As of
June 30, 2022, we had the following interest rate swap agreement (the “Swap Agreement”):
Effective date

Notional amount

September 30, 2021 through July 23, 2026

$

100,000

Fixed rate

0.875 %

Under the terms of the Swap Agreement, we receive payments based on the 1-month LIBOR (approximately 3.67% as of June 30, 2022).
During the six months ended June 30, 2022, there were no interest rate swap agreements that expired.
We entered into the Swap Agreement to convert a portion of the interest rate exposure on our floating rate debt from variable to fixed. We designated this
Swap Agreement as a cash flow hedge. A portion of the amount included in accumulated other comprehensive loss is reclassified into interest expense, net
as a yield adjustment as interest is either paid or received on the hedged debt. The fair value of our Swap Agreement is based upon Level 2 inputs. We have
considered our own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparties when determining the fair value of our Swap Agreement.
It is our policy to execute such instruments with creditworthy banks and not to enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We
believe our interest rate swap counterparty will be able to fulfill their obligations under our agreement, and we believe we will have debt outstanding
through the expiration date of the swap such that the occurrence of future cash flow hedges remains probable.
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The estimated fair value of our Swap Agreement in the consolidated balance sheets was as follows:

Balance sheet accounts

June 30, 2022

Other current assets
Other assets
Accrued liabilities

$
$
$

2,115
4,715
—

December 31, 2021

$
$
$

—
1,607
389

A cumulative gain, net of tax, of $5,123 and $913 as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss.
The amount of gain, net of tax recognized in other comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was $987 and $4,064,
respectively. There was $15 and $146 reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings for the three and six months ended June 30,
2022, respectively.
As of June 30, 2022, approximately $2,121 is expected to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into interest expense over the next
12 months.
7.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings
In March 2020, the Company settled an administrative enforcement action filed by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) relating to Company’s
sale of VieVu, LLC to Axon Enterprise Inc. (“Axon”) wherein the FTC alleged that the operative agreements contained non-compete and non-solicitation
provisions in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15
U.S.C. § 18. The FTC’s administrative complaint sought only injunctive relief against the Company to enjoin the enforcement of these provisions, now and
in the future, and did not seek monetary damages against the Company. In January 2020, the Company and Axon had rescinded these provisions. Pursuant
to a consent agreement and proposed consent order entered into by the FTC and the Company, on June 11, 2020, the FTC issued a Decision and Order
accepting the Consent Agreement (the “Order”). Under the Order, the Company agreed to not modify and reinstate the rescinded provisions and to not enter
into any new similar provisions with Axon, absent prior approval from the FTC. In addition, as part of the Company’s compliance program, the Order
imposes an obligation to distribute to, and train the directors and officers on, the requirements of the consent order and to report annually for five years to
the FTC ensuring compliance with the consent order. On July 10, 2020, the Company filed its Interim Verified Compliance Report and, thereafter, on
June 11, 2021 and June 10, 2022, filed its Annual Compliance Reports, each as required by the Order.
In June 2020, the Company received a Civil Investigative Demand (“CID”) from the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”), Western District of
Washington (Seattle, WA), pertaining to a False Claims Act investigation, 31 U.S.C, sections 3729-3733 (“FCA”), concerning allegations that soft body
armor vest accessory panels sold by the Company are falsely labeled as compliant with the National Institute of Justice performance standards. In
September 2020, the Company made its First Production of Documents which contained only documents and data that had been deemed to be of a
“priority” nature pursuant to an agreement reached between the Company’s counsel and the Assistant U.S. Attorney handling the matter. In July 2021, the
Company received a request for additional information relating to the subject matter of the investigation, with which the Company complied. In
October 2021, November 2021 and December 2021, the Company produced additional documents responsive to the correspondence containing requests for
specific documents and supplemental information. At this preliminary stage of the investigation, the Company does not have enough information to make
an evaluation of the merits, exposure or potential risks regarding this matter.
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In September 2021, Safariland, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received a jury verdict awarding $7,500 to a plaintiff relating to a
personal injury case wherein the plaintiff alleged various product liability claims against Safariland, LLC. The plaintiff in the proceeding, Mr. David
Hakim, instituted the proceeding on July 24, 2015, through the filing of a complaint with the United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois,
Eastern Division. In the proceeding, the plaintiff, a SWAT officer with the DuPage County Sheriff’s Office (“DCSO”), alleged that he suffered injuries
during a training exercise conducted by DCSO in which a Defense Technology Shotgun Breaching TKO round was deployed and passed through a door
and lower-floor ceiling causing a fragment to strike plaintiff’s back resulting in injury. Prior to the jury rendering its verdict, the court deferred ruling on
Safariland, LLC’s Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law (“JMOL”). On November 8, 2021, Safariland, LLC filed its post-trial motions, including a
supplemental JMOL, motion for new trial and remittitur. On April 18, 2022, the court denied Safariland, LLC’s JMOL, motion for new trial and remittitur
and, accordingly, entered a judgment in favor of plaintiff, David Hakim, as to the Third Claim. In response, Safariland, LLC timely filed its notice of appeal
on May 16, 2022 and, on July 7, 2022, Safariland timely filed its opening brief. Plaintiff has 30 days to file a response brief, and Safariland will have 21
days to file a reply, provided that it is no later than seven days before oral argument is scheduled. While any litigation contains an element of uncertainty,
the Company believes it is reasonably possible, not probable, that the Company could incur losses related to this case, however, any losses would be
indemnified by our insurance carrier under applicable policies.
The Company is also involved in various legal disputes and other legal proceedings and claims that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of
business. The Company vigorously defends itself against all lawsuits and evaluates the amount of reasonably possible losses that the Company could incur
as a result of these matters. While any litigation contains an element of uncertainty, the Company believes that the reasonably possible losses that the
Company could incur in excess of insurance coverage would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations, or liquidity.
Insurance
The Company has various insurance policies, including product liability insurance, covering risks and in amounts it considers adequate. There can be no
assurance that the insurance coverage maintained by the Company is sufficient or will be available in adequate amounts or at a reasonable cost.
International
As an international company, we are, from time to time, the subject of investigations relation to the Company’s international operations, including under
U.S. export control laws (such as ITAR), the FCPA and other similar U.S. and international laws. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are not
any potential or pending investigations at this time.
Leases
The Company leases office, warehouse, and distribution space under non-cancelable operating leases. As leases expire, it can be expected that, in the
normal course of business, certain leases will be renewed or replaced. Our leases generally contain multi-year renewal options and escalation clauses. Total
rent expense of the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was $1,202 and $1,175, respectively, and for the six months ended June
30, 2022 and 2021 was $2,402 and $2,325, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments required under non-cancelable operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of
one year for the remaining six months of 2022, the next four years and thereafter is as follows:
Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

2,358
4,276
3,077
1,618
639
104
12,072

There were no material future minimum sublease payments to be received under non-cancelable subleases as of June 30, 2022. There was no material
sublease income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
8.

INCOME TAXES

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal, various state and local, and certain foreign jurisdictions. As of June 30,
2022, the Company’s tax years subsequent to 2016 are subject to examination by tax authorities with few exceptions. During the six months ended June 30,
2022, one of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries concluded an examination of its tax filings for the period June 1, 2016 through December 31, 2017 that
resulted in no changes to the filings or the amount of tax due. The 2018 and 2019 tax returns of a separate Canadian subsidiary are currently under
examination by the Canadian Revenue Agency.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company performs a quarterly evaluation of whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. During the course of this evaluation, the Company considers all available positive and negative
evidence and if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is
recorded. Based on the Company’s evaluation, a valuation allowance of $1,890 has been recorded as of June 30, 2022.
The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was 25.4% and 26.9%, respectively, and 44.0% and 30.4% for the
six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 differs from our
statutory rate primarily due to nondeductible executive compensation.
9.

COMPENSATION PLANS

Long-Term Incentive Plan
In March 2021, the Company initiated a cash-based long-term incentive plan. Each award granted under the plan shall be eligible to vest in three equal
annual installments over a period of three consecutive one-year performance periods, with each installment of the award vesting on the last day of the
applicable performance period, subject to the achievement of the performance metrics established by the board of directors for the applicable annual
performance period. Compensation expense related to this plan was $174 and $328 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and
$558 and $1,280 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
On March 9, 2022, the Company’s board of directors approved the common stock settlement of vested awards of the long-term incentive plan. The
board of directors also approved the future settlement of unvested awards in common stock. Modification accounting was not applied as this change did not
affect the fair value of the awards, vesting conditions, or the liability classification of the awards.
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Executive Compensation Plan
The Company maintains a cash-based executive compensation plan for certain employees. The Company’s board of directors awarded 1,433,500 (splitadjusted) interests in the plan (“units”). Each unit represents an unfunded and unsecured right, subject to certain conditions as set forth by the plan. Onethird of the units granted to any holder will vest on each of the first, second, and third anniversaries of March 18, 2021 during the term of such holder’s
employment with the Company. Payment of a holder’s vested balance is dependent upon a transaction or series of related transactions constituting a
qualifying exit event, as defined by the executive compensation plan. The plan will expire on March 18, 2025, at which time the plan and all awarded units
will be terminated for no consideration if a qualifying exit event has not occurred before that date. If a qualifying exit event becomes probable, the fair
value of the units would be the closing stock price of the Company on the day the qualifying exit event becomes probable and compensation expense would
be recognized at that time.
On March 9, 2022, the Company’s board of directors modified the performance condition, specifically the definition of a qualifying exit event, in the
cash-based executive compensation plan. In addition, the board of directors approved the settlement of the majority of vested and unvested units in common
stock rather than cash, which resulted in a change in classification of those outstanding units from liability to equity. As a result, modification of the units
occurred on March 9, 2022 with a grant date fair value of $23.45, the closing stock price of the Company on the date of modification. There
were 632,500 units that vested on March 18, 2022 and 801,000 units that will vest in equal amounts on the second and third anniversaries of the plan. The
Company recognized compensation expense of $22,100 in selling, general and administrative in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) on the modification date. Unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested units was $11,516 as of the
modification date.
Stock Incentive Plan
On March 9, 2022, the Company’s board of directors granted 85,108 restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and issued 309,479 stock options under the Cadre
Stock Incentive Plan. The RSAs will vest in three equal installments over a three-year period from the date of grant and have a grant date fair value of
$23.45, the closing stock price of the Company on the date of grant. The options issued will vest and become exercisable in equal installments over a threeyear period from the date of grant and expire ten years from the date of the grant. The fair value of the options has been estimated as of the grant date using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and resulted in a grant date fair value of approximately $6.72 per option.
10.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

In October 2021, the Company designated our Daventry, UK facility as held for sale. Accordingly, during 2021, the Company determined that the assets
and liabilities associated with the Daventry facility met the criteria for classification as held for sale but did not meet the criteria for classification as
discontinued operations as the deconsolidation did not represent a strategic shift in the business. Total assets and liabilities associated with the Daventry
facility were $251 and $106, respectively, and are presented in our consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2022 as current assets held for sale and current
liabilities held for sale, respectively. The Company is actively marketing this facility and expects to complete the sale of this facility in 2022.
11.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company leases 4 distribution warehouses and retail stores from certain employees. The Company recorded rent expense related to these leases of
$112 and $142 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $234 and $295 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Rent expense related to these leases is included in related party expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss).
During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company made the following payments to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by Warren
Kanders, our Chief Executive Officer:
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12.

●

$1,000 for services related to the acquisition of Cyalume, which is included in related party expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

●

$2,000 for services related to the Company’s secondary offering, which is included in direct offering costs and recorded against offering proceeds
in additional paid in capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

SEGMENT DATA

Our operations are comprised of two reportable segments: Products and Distribution. Segment information is consistent with how the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), our chief executive officer, reviews the business, makes investing and resource allocation decisions and assesses operating
performance. The CODM is not provided asset information or operating expenses by segment.

Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$

185,223

$

112,067
73,156

Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
(1)

$
$

190,121
110,028
80,093

Six months ended June 30, 2022
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$

47,824

$

$

37,578
10,246

$

Total

$
$

Six months ended June 30, 2021
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$
$

47,579
35,476
12,103

Reconciling items consist primarily of intercompany eliminations and items not directly attributable to operating segments.
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(10,409)
(10,417)
8

$
$

(12,603)
(12,594)
(9)

222,638
139,228
83,410

Total

$
$

225,097
132,910
92,187

Table of Contents

CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Cadre Holdings, Inc. (D/B/A The Safariland Group)
(“Cadre,” “the Company” “we,” “us” and “our”) should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related
notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and with our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect future plans, estimates, beliefs and
expected performance. The forward-looking statements are dependent upon events, risks and uncertainties that may be outside of Cadre’s control. Our
actual results may differ significantly from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause future results to differ materially
from those projected in the forward- looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Our Business
Cadre is a global leader in the manufacturing and distribution of safety and survivability equipment for first responders. Our equipment provides critical
protection to allow its users to safely and securely perform their duties and protect those around them in hazardous or life-threatening situations. Through
our dedication to superior quality, we establish a direct covenant with end users that our products will perform and keep them safe when they are most
needed. We sell a wide range of products including body armor, explosive ordnance disposal equipment and duty gear through both direct and indirect
channels. In addition, through our owned distribution, we serve as a one-stop shop for first responders providing equipment we manufacture as well as
third-party products including uniforms, optics, boots, firearms and ammunition. The majority of our diversified product offering is governed by rigorous
safety standards and regulations. Demand for our products is driven by technological advancement as well as recurring modernization and replacement
cycles for the equipment to maintain its efficiency, effective performance and regulatory compliance.
We service the ever-changing needs of our end users by investing in research and development for new product innovation and technical advancements
that continually raise the standards for safety and survivability equipment in the first responder market. Our target end user base includes domestic and
international first responders such as state and local law enforcement, fire and rescue, explosive ordnance disposal technicians, emergency medical
technicians, fishing and wildlife enforcement and departments of corrections, as well as federal agencies including the U.S. Department of State, U.S.
Department of Defense, U.S. Department of Interior, U.S. Department of Justice, U.S. Department of Homeland Security, U.S. Department of Corrections
and numerous foreign government agencies in over 100 countries.
In January 2022, Company acquired Radar Leather Division S.r.l. (“Radar”) for $19.4 million, net of cash acquired. We recorded a preliminary
allocation of the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. These
estimates are preliminary and subject to adjustments as we complete our valuation process.
In May 2022, the Company acquired Cyalume Technologies, Inc, CT SAS Holdings, Inc. and Cyalume Technologies SAS (collectively “Cyalume”) for
$35.7 million, net of cash acquired. We recorded a preliminary allocation of the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. These estimates are preliminary and subject to adjustments as we complete our valuation process.
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The following table sets forth a summary of our financial highlights for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(in thousands)

Net sales
Net income (loss)
Adjusted EBITDA(1)

$
$
$

118,232
4,445
18,386

$
$
$

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021

114,561 $ 222,638
6,815 $
(5,720)
20,451 $ 32,605

$ 225,097
$
13,679
$
40,697

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. See “Non-GAAP Measures” below for our definition of, and additional information about,
Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation to net (loss) income, the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure.
Net sales increased by $3.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily as a result
of recent acquisitions and increased armor demand, offset by decreases in large structural armor and crowd control. Net sales decreased by $2.5 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily as a result of a large prior year US Federal shipment of
duty gear and prior year demand for crowd control products, partially offset by recent acquisitions.
Net income decreased by $2.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily as a
result of increased stock-based compensation expense, losses on foreign currency transactions and discrete acquisition-related expenses, partially offset by
increased revenue. Net income (loss) decreased by $19.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six months ended June 30,
2021, primarily as a result of stock-based compensation expense.
Secondary Offering
On June 9, 2022, the Company completed a secondary offering in which the Company issued and sold 2,250,000 shares of common stock at a price
of $23.50 per share. The Company’s net proceeds from the sale of shares were $47.0 million after underwriter discounts and commissions, fees and
expenses of $2.7 million, of which $2.0 million was paid to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by Warren Kanders, our Chief Executive
Officer.
On July 14, 2022, the underwriters exercised a portion of their over-allotment option and purchased an additional 300,000 shares of common stockat a
price of $23.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $6.6 million after underwriter discounts and commissions, fees and expenses of $0.4
million.
COVID-19
The global outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization and a national emergency by the U.S. and European
governments in March 2020, with governments world-wide implementing safety measures restricting travel and requiring citizen lockdowns and selfconfinements for quarantining purposes. This has negatively affected the U.S. and global economies, disrupted global supply chains, and resulted in
significant transport restrictions and disruption of global financial markets.
The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the global supply chain, with restrictions and limitations on related activities causing disruption
and delay, along with increased raw material, storage, and shipping costs. These disruptions and delays have strained domestic and international supply
chains, which have affected and could continue to negatively affect the flow or availability of certain critical raw materials and finished good products that
the Company relies upon. Furthermore, any negative impacts on our logistical operations, including our fulfillment and shipping functions, could result in
periodic delays in the delivery of our products.
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KEY PERFORMANCE METRICS
Orders backlog
We monitor our orders backlog, which we believe is a forward-looking indicator of potential sales. Our orders backlog for products includes all orders
that have been received and are believed to be firm. Due to municipal government procurement rules, in certain cases orders included in backlog are subject
to budget appropriation or other contract cancellation clauses. Consequently, our orders backlog may differ from actual future sales. Orders backlog can be
helpful to investors in evaluating the performance of our business and identify trends over time.
The following table presents our orders backlog as of the periods indicated:

(in thousands)

June 30, 2022

Orders backlog

$

126,364

December 31, 2021

$

113,840

Orders comprising backlog as of a given balance sheet date are typically invoiced in subsequent periods. The majority of our products are generally
processed and shipped within one to three weeks of an order being placed, though the fulfillment time for certain products, for example, explosive ordnance
disposal equipment, may take three months or longer. Our orders backlog could experience volatility between periods, including as a result of customer
order volumes and the speed of our order fulfilment, which in turn may be impacted by the nature of products ordered, the amount of inventory on hand and
the necessary manufacturing lead time.
Orders backlog increased by $12.5 million as of June 30, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021, primarily due to $13.6 million from recent acquisitions,
$8.6 million from higher demand for soft armor products, $2.0 million from crowd control orders in the international and government channels, and $1.7
million from duty gear holster projects in the international channel. This was partially offset by a $10.8 million reduction from 2022 year to date shipments
of large international contracts of bomb suit ensembles and a $2.6 million reduction from a large contractual armor order due to year to date shipments.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
In order to reflect the way our chief operating decision maker reviews and assesses the performance of the business, Cadre has determined that it has two
reportable segments — the Product segment and the Distribution segment. Segment information is consistent with how the chief operating decision maker,
our chief executive officer, reviews the business, makes investing and resource allocation decisions and assesses operating performance.
The following table presents data from our results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands unless
otherwise noted):
Three months ended June 30,
2022
2021
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$

118,232
75,011
43,221

$

Six months ended June 30,
2022
2021
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

% Chg

% Chg

114,561
66,333
48,228

3.2 %
13.1 %
(10.4) %

$ 222,638
139,228
83,410

$ 225,097
132,910
92,187

(1.1) %
4.8 %
(9.5) %

Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring and transaction costs
Related party expense
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

32,749
1,203
1,112
35,064
8,157

31,444
1,219
142
32,805
15,423

4.2 %
(1.3) %
683.1 %
6.9 %
(47.1) %

86,699
1,802
1,234
89,735
(6,325)

59,495
1,540
295
61,330
30,857

45.7 %
17.0 %
318.3 %
46.3 %
(120.5) %

Other expense
Interest expense
Other expense, net

(1,439)
(756)

(5,621)
(485)

(74.4) %
55.9 %

(2,929)
(961)

(10,665)
(529)

(72.5) %
81.7 %

Total other expense, net

(2,195)

(6,106)

(64.1) %

(3,890)

(11,194)

(65.2) %

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
(Provision) benefit for income taxes

5,962
(1,517)

9,317
(2,502)

(36.0) %
(39.4) %

(10,215)
4,495

19,663
(5,984)

(152.0) %
(175.1) %

6,815

(34.8) %

13,679

(141.8) %

Net income (loss)

$

4,445

$

$

(5,720) $

The following table presents segment data for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$
$

99,837
60,947
38,890

Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$
$

30

96,303
54,434
41,869

Three months ended June 30, 2022
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$
$

23,728
19,406
4,322

$
$

(5,333)
(5,342)
9

Total

$
$

Three months ended June 30, 2021
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$
$

24,919
18,555
6,364

$
$

(6,661)
(6,656)
(5)

118,232
75,011
43,221

Total

$
$

114,561
66,333
48,228
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Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$

185,223

$

112,067
73,156

Products

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
(1)

$
$

190,121
110,028
80,093

Six months ended June 30, 2022
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$

47,824

$

$

37,578
10,246

$

(10,409)
(10,417)
8

Total

$
$

Six months ended June 30, 2021
Reconciling
Distribution
Items(1)

$
$

47,579
35,476
12,103

$
$

(12,603)
(12,594)
(9)

222,638
139,228
83,410

Total

$
$

225,097
132,910
92,187

Reconciling items consist primarily of intercompany eliminations and items not directly attributable to operating segments

Comparison of Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 to Three Months Ended June 30, 2021
Net sales. Product segment net sales increased by $3.5 million, or 3.7%, from $96.3 million to $99.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as
compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to increases of $8.6 million from recent acquisitions and $2.6 million from higher
demand for armor products, partially offset by decreases of $4.8 million from a large contractual armor order and $1.2 million from the crowd control
product line due to higher demand for such products in the prior year. Distribution segment net sales decreased by $1.2 million, or 4.8%, from $24.9 million
to $23.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to lower retail volume.
Reconciling items consisting primarily of intercompany eliminations were $5.3 million and $6.7 million for three months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30,
2021, respectively.
Cost of goods sold and Gross profit. Product segment cost of goods sold increased by $6.5 million, or 12.0%, from $54.4 million to $60.9 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to increasing costs to manufacture product (namely
material and labor). Product segment gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased by 450 basis points to 39.0% for the three months ended June 30,
2022 from 43.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2021, mainly driven by unfavorable product and portfolio mix, partially offset by price (in excess of
material inflation). Distribution segment cost of goods sold increased by $0.8 million, or 4.6%, from $18.6 million to $19.4 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to increased costs to acquire products. Distribution segment gross profit as a
percentage of net sales decreased by 730 basis points to 18.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 from 25.5% for the three months ended June 30,
2021, mainly driven by unfavorable channel mix with more volume going to agencies versus retail and timing of vendor discounts. Reconciling items
consisting primarily of intercompany eliminations were $5.3 million and $6.7 million for three months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021,
respectively.
Selling, general and administrative. SG&A increased by $1.3 million, or 4.2%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period
in 2021, primarily due to stock-based compensation expense of $2.8 million and increases in marketing spend and corporate insurances offset in part by
bonus expense and lower commissions.
Restructuring and transaction costs. Restructuring and transaction costs were relatively consistent for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared
to the three months ended June 30, 2021.
Related party expense. Related party expense increased by $1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in
2021, primarily due to a $1.0 million transaction fee paid to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, in connection
with the acquisition of Cyalume. We also recorded rent expense relating to distribution warehouses and retail stores that we lease from related parties.
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Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by $4.2 million, or 74.4%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended
June 30, 2021, due to an interest rate decrease as a result of our prior year debt refinancing and repayments on our outstanding debt.
Other expense, net. Other expense, net increased by $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the three months ended June
30, 2021, primarily due to losses on foreign currency transactions.
(Provision) benefit for income taxes. Income tax provision was $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to a tax provision of $2.5
million for the three months ended June 30, 2021. The effective tax rate was 25.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and was higher than the
statutory rate due to state taxes and executive compensation, partially offset by research and development tax credits. For the three months ended June 30,
2021, the effective tax rate was 26.9% and was higher than the statutory rate primarily due to state taxes and the tax impact of our foreign earnings,
partially offset by research and development tax credits.
Comparison of Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 to Six Months Ended June 30, 2021
Net sales. Product segment net sales decreased by $4.9 million, or 2.6%, from $190.1 million to $185.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to decreases of $5.2 million from our duty gear product line as a result of a large US
Federal shipment in the prior year, $5.0 million from the crowd control product line from higher demand for such products in the prior year and $3.1
million from a large contractual armor order in the prior year, partially offset by an increase of $10.1 million from recent acquisitions. Distribution
segment net sales increased by $0.2 million, or 0.5%, from $47.6 million to $47.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to field sales of uniforms. Reconciling items consisting primarily of intercompany eliminations were $10.4
million and $12.6 million for six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Cost of goods sold and Gross profit. Product segment cost of goods sold increased by $2.1, or 1.9%, from $110.0 to $112.1 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to increased costs to manufacture product (namely material and
labor). Product segment gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased by 260 basis points to 39.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 from 42.1%
for the six months ended June 30, 2021, mainly driven by unfavorable product and portfolio mix, partially offset by price (in excess of material inflation).
Distribution segment cost of goods sold increased by $2.1 million, or 5.9%, from $35.5 million to $37.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as
compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to increased costs to acquire products. Distribution segment gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased by 400 basis points to 21.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 from 25.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2021, mainly driven by
unfavorable channel mix with more volume going to agencies versus retail. Reconciling items consisting primarily of intercompany eliminations were $10.4
million and $12.6 million for six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Selling, general and administrative. SG&A increased by $27.2 million, or 45.7%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period
in 2021, primarily due to stock-based compensation expense of $26.5 million and increases in marketing spend and corporate insurances.
Restructuring and transaction costs. Restructuring and transaction costs increased by $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to
the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to increased transactions costs and consulting fees incurred related to the acquisition of Cyalume.
Related party expense. Related party expense increased by $0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021,
primarily due to a $1.0 million transaction fee paid to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, in connection with
the acquisition of Cyalume. We also recorded rent expense relating to distribution warehouses and retail stores that we lease from related parties.
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Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by $7.7 million, or 72.5%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six months ended June
30, 2021, as a result of our prior year debt refinancing and debt repayments on our outstanding debt.
Other expense, net. Other expense, net increased by $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the six months ended June 30,
2021, primarily due to losses on foreign currency transactions.
(Provision)benefit for income taxes. Income tax benefit was $4.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to a tax provision of $6.0
million for the six months ended June 30, 2021. The effective tax rate was 44.0% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and was higher than the statutory
rate due to state taxes and executive compensation, partially offset by research and development tax credits. For the six months ended June 30, 2021, the
effective tax rate was 30.4% and was higher than the statutory rate primarily due to state taxes and the tax impact of our foreign earnings, partially offset by
research and development tax credits.
NON-GAAP MEASURES
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate, which are non-GAAP financial
measures that we use to supplement our results presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. EBITDA is defined as net income before depreciation and
amortization expense, interest expense and (benefit) provision for income tax. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA that excludes restructuring and
transaction costs, other expense, net, stock-based compensation expense and long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) bonus as these items do not represent our
core operating performance. We also present Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate, which we define as Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures divided
by Adjusted EBITDA. We use Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate as a measurement of the cash generation capacity of our underlying operations,
exclusive of impacts relating to our capital structure.
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate are performance measures that we believe are useful to investors and analysts
because they illustrate the underlying financial and business trends relating to our core, recurring results of operations and enhance comparability between
periods. Adjusted EBITDA is considered by our board of directors and management as an important factor in determining performance-based
compensation. Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate is a liquidity measure that we believe provides investors and analysts with important information about
our core, recurring cash generation trends, which are an indication of our ability to make acquisitions, incur additional debt or return capital to investors,
after making the capital investments required to support our business operations.
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate are not recognized measures under U.S. GAAP and are not intended to be a
substitute for any U.S. GAAP financial measure and, as calculated, may not be comparable to other similarly-titled measures of performance of other
companies. Investors should exercise caution in comparing our non-GAAP measures to any similarly titled measures used by other companies. These nonGAAP financial measures exclude certain items required by U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as alternatives to information reported in accordance
with U.S. GAAP.
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The table below presents our EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Rate reconciled to the most comparable GAAP financial
measures for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Add back:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
EBITDA
Add back:
Restructuring and transaction costs(1)
Other expense, net(2)
Stock-based compensation expense(3)
Stock-based compensation payroll tax expense(4)
LTIP bonus(5)
Amortization of inventory step-up(6)
Adjusted EBITDA
Less: Capital expenditures
Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures
Adjusted EBITDA conversion rate

$

4,445

$

3,836
1,439
1,517
11,237

$
$

$

6,815

$

3,481
5,621
2,502
18,419

2,203
756
2,818
7
174
1,191
18,386
$
(1,421)
16,965
$
92 %

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

$

(5,720)

$

7,380
2,929
(4,495)
94

1,219
485
—
—
328
—
20,451 $
(718)
19,733 $
96 %

$

13,679

$

7,020
10,665
5,984
37,348

2,802
961
26,541
305
558
1,344
32,605
$
(2,490)
30,115
$
92 %

1,540
529
—
—
1,280
—
40,697
(1,506)
39,191
96 %

(1) Reflects the “Restructuring and transaction costs” line item on our consolidated statement of operations, which primarily includes transaction costs
composed of legal and consulting fees, and $1.0 million paid to Kanders & Company, Inc., a company controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, for
services related to the acquisition of Cyalume, which is included in related party expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss).
(2) Reflects the “Other expense, net” line item on our consolidated statement of operations. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021,
other expense, net primarily includes losses on foreign currency transactions.
(3) Reflects compensation expense related to equity and liability classified stock-based compensation plans.
(4) Reflects payroll taxes associated with vested stock-based compensation awards.
(5) Reflects the cost of a cash-based long-term incentive plan awarded to employees that vests over three years.
(6) Reflects amortization expense related to the step-up inventory adjustment recorded as part of the recent acquisitions.
Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $2.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to 2021, primarily due to the decrease in net sales
and unfavorable product and portfolio mix, offset by favorable pricing (in excess of material inflation). Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $8.1 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to 2021, primarily due to the decrease in net sales and unfavorable product and portfolio mix, offset by
favorable pricing (in excess of material inflation).

34

Table of Contents

CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity refers to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the cash requirements of our business operations, including working capital needs,
capital expenditures, debt service, acquisitions and other commitments. Our principal sources of liquidity have been cash provided by operating activities,
cash on hand and amounts available under our Revolving Loan.
For the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash provided from operating activities totaled $25.0 million and as of June 30, 2022, cash and cash
equivalents totaled $28.9 million. We believe that our cash flows from operations and cash on hand, and available borrowing capacity under our existing
credit facilities (as described below) will be adequate to meet our liquidity requirements for at least the 12 months following the date of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. Our future capital requirements will depend on several factors, including future acquisitions and investments in our manufacturing
facilities and equipment. We could be required, or could elect, to seek additional funding through public or private equity or debt financings; however,
additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
Debt
As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had $152.6 million and $159.7 million in outstanding debt, net of debt discounts and debt issuance
costs, respectively, primarily related to the term loan facilities.
New Credit Agreement
On August 20, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company refinanced its existing credit facilities and entered into a new credit agreement whereby
Safariland, LLC, as borrower (the “Borrower”), the Company and certain domestic subsidiaries of the Borrower, as guarantors (the “Guarantors”), closed
on and received funding under a credit agreement (initially entered into on July 23, 2021), pursuant to a First Amendment to Credit Agreement (collectively,
the “New Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”), as administrative agent, and the several lenders from time to time party
thereto (together with PNC, the “Lenders”) pursuant to which the Borrower (i) borrowed $200.0 million under a term loan (the “Term Loan”), and (ii) may
borrow up to $100.0 million under a revolving credit facility (including up to $15.0 million for letters of credit and up to $10.0 million for swing line loans)
(the “Revolving Loan”). Each of the Term Loan and the Revolving Loan mature on July 23, 2026. Commencing December 31, 2021, the New Term Loan
requires scheduled quarterly payments in amounts equal to 1.25% per quarter of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan, with the balance
due at maturity. The New Credit Agreement is guaranteed, jointly and severally, by the Guarantors and, subject to certain exceptions, secured by a firstpriority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Borrower and the Guarantors pursuant to a Security and Pledge Agreement and a Guaranty
and Suretyship Agreement, each dated as of the Closing Date.
There were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Loan as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021. As of June 30, 2022, there were $2.3
million in outstanding letters of credit and $97.7 million of availability.
The Borrower may elect to have the Revolving Loan and Term Loan under the New Credit Agreement bear interest at a base rate or a LIBOR rate, in
each case, plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin for these borrowings will range from 0.50% to 1.50% per annum, in the case of base rate
borrowings, and 1.50% to 2.50% per annum, in the case of LIBOR borrowings, in each case based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net
leverage ratio. The New Credit Agreement also requires the Borrower to pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the loan commitments. Such
commitment fee will range between 0.175% and 0.25% per annum, and is also based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ratio.
The New Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on
additional indebtedness, dividends, and other distributions, entry into new lines of business, use of loan proceeds, capital expenditures, restricted payments,
restrictions on liens on the assets of the Borrowers or any Guarantor, transactions with affiliates, amendments to organizational documents, accounting
changes, sale and leaseback transactions, dispositions, and mandatory prepayments in connection with certain liquidity events. The New Credit Agreement
contains certain restrictive debt
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covenants, which require us to: (i) maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25 to 1.00, starting with the quarter ended December 31, 2021,
which is to be determined for each quarter end on a trailing four quarter basis and (ii) maintain a quarterly maximum consolidated total net leverage ratio of
3.75 to 1.00 from the quarter ended December 31, 2021 until the quarter ended September 30, 2022, and thereafter 3.50 to 1.00, which is in each case to be
determined on a trailing four quarter basis; provided that under certain circumstances and subject to certain limitations, in the event of a material
acquisition, we may temporarily increase the consolidated total net leverage ratio by up to 0.50 to 1.00 for four fiscal quarters following such acquisition.
The New Credit Agreement contains customary events of default that include, among others, non-payment of principal, interest or fees, violation of
covenants, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, failure to make payment on, or defaults with respect to, certain other material indebtedness,
bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments and change of control provisions. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, and after the
expiration of any applicable grace period, payment of any outstanding loans under the New Credit Agreement may be accelerated and the Lenders could
foreclose on their security interests in the assets of the Borrowers and the Guarantors. As of August 8, 2022, there were no amounts outstanding under the
Revolving Loan.
The foregoing description of the New Credit Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the New Credit
Agreement, which is Exhibit 10.24 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
Canadian Credit Facility
On October 14, 2021, Med-Eng Holdings ULC and Pacific Safety Products Inc., the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries, as borrowers (the “Canadian
Borrowers”), and Safariland, LLC, as guarantor (the “Canadian Guarantor”), closed on a line of credit pursuant to a Loan Agreement (the “Canadian Loan
Agreement”) and a Revolving Line of Credit Note (the “Note”) with PNC Bank Canada Branch (“PNC Canada”), as lender pursuant to which the Canadian
Borrowers may borrow up to CDN$10.0 million under a revolving line of credit (including up to $3.0 million for letters of credit) (the “Revolving Canadian
Loan”). The Revolving Canadian Loan matures on July 23, 2026. The Canadian Loan Agreement is guaranteed by the Canadian Guarantor pursuant to a
Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement.
The Canadian Borrowers may elect to have borrowings either in United States dollars or Canadian dollars under the Canadian Loan Agreement, which
will bear interest at a base rate or a LIBOR rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin, in the case of borrowings in United States dollars, or at a Canadian
Prime Rate (as announced from time to time by PNC Canada) or a Canadian deposit offered rate (“CDOR”) as determined from time to time by PNC
Canada in accordance with the Canadian Loan Agreement. The applicable margin for these borrowings will range from 0.50% to 1.50% per annum, in the
case of base rate borrowings and Canadian Prime Rate borrowings, and 1.50% to 2.50% per annum, in the case of LIBOR borrowings and CDOR
borrowings. The Canadian Loan Agreement also requires the Canadian Borrowers to pay (i) an unused line fee on the unused portion of the loan
commitments in an amount ranging between 0.175% and 0.25% per annum, based upon the level of the Company’s consolidated total net leverage ratio,
and (ii) an upfront fee equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the Note.
There were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Canadian Loan as of June 30, 2022.
The Canadian Loan Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants, including, among
others, limitations on additional indebtedness, entry into new lines of business, entry into guarantee agreements, making of any loans or advances to, or
investments in, any other person, restrictions on liens on the assets of the Canadian Borrowers and mergers, transfers of assets and acquisitions. The
Canadian Loan Agreement and Note also contain customary events of default that include, among others, non-payment of principal, interest or fees,
violation of covenants, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, failure to make payment on, or defaults with respect to, certain other material
indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments and change of control provisions. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, and after
the expiration of any applicable grace period, payment of any outstanding loans under the Canadian Loan Agreement may be accelerated. As of August 8,
2022, there were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Canadian Loan.
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The foregoing description of the Canadian Loan Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Canadian
Loan Agreement, which is Exhibit 10.28 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.
Cash Flows
The following table presents a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effects of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

$

25,018
(57,512)
27,355
144
(4,995)
33,857
28,862

$

$

28,707
(1,506)
(14,933)
42
12,310
2,873
15,183

Net cash provided by operating activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash provided by operating activities of $25.0 million resulted primarily from net loss of $10.2 million, a
$26.3 million add back to net loss for stock-based compensation, a $7.4 million add back to net loss for depreciation and amortization and changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $4.6 million. Changes in operating assets and liabilities were primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable of
$3.2 million, a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $3.6 million and a decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities of $3.5 million.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by operating activities of $28.7 million resulted primarily from net income of
$13.7 million, a $7.0 million add back for depreciation and amortization, a $4.6 million add back for deferred income taxes and changes in operating assets
and liabilities of $1.9 million. Changes in operating assets and liabilities were primarily driven by an increase in accounts payable and other liabilities of
$9.2 million offset in part by increases in accounts receivable of $2.4 million and inventories of $7.1 million.
Net cash used in investing activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2022, we used $57.5 million of cash in investing activities, consisting of $19.4 million for the acquisition of
Radar, $35.7 for the acquisition of Cyalume and $2.5 million for purchases of property and equipment.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, we used $1.5 million of cash in investing activities, consisting of purchases of property and equipment.
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities of $27.4 million resulted primarily from proceeds from secondary
offering of $49.7 million, partially offset by principal payments on term loans of $5.0 million, taxes paid in connection with employee stock transactions of
$6.2 million and dividends distributed of $5.5 million.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, we used $14.9 million of cash in financing activities, primarily consisting of principal payments on
revolving credit facilities of $176.5 million, principal payments on insurance premium financing of $1.2 million and principal payments on term loans of
$13.7 million, offset in part by proceeds from revolving credit facilities of $176.5 million.
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Contractual Obligations
Our long-term contractual obligations generally include our debt and related interest payments and operating and finance lease payments for our property
and equipment, and are expected to be funded from cash-on-hand, cash from operations and availability under our existing credit facilities. There were no
significant changes to our contractual obligations from those disclosed in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. Preparation
of the financial statements requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amount of net sales and expenses, assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when the
estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and when the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions
could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in notes in our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we believe that the following accounting policies are those
most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.
There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies as described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements are described in notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). As such, we are eligible for
exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not limited
to, presenting only two years of audited financial statements, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation, and an exemption from the requirements to obtain a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.
In addition, an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.
This provision allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this provision of the JOBS Act. As a result, we will not be subject to new or revised accounting
standards at the same time as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. Therefore, our consolidated financial statements may not be
comparable to those of companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As a smaller reporting company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the 1934 Act, as amended, for this reporting period, we are not required to provide the
information required under this item.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (“Exchange Act”)) as of June 30, 2022, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Such disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized,
evaluated and reported, as applicable, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the
appropriate management on a basis that permits timely decisions regarding disclosure. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2022 were effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company acquired Radar Leather Division S.r.l. (“Radar”) on January 11, 2022, as well as each of Cyalume Technologies, Inc, CT SAS Holdings,
Inc. and Cyalume Technologies SAS (collectively “Cyalume”) on May 4, 2022. The Company is currently in the process of integrating the internal controls
over financial reporting at Radar and Cyalume. Except for the continued integration of Radar and Cyalume, there has been no change in our internal control
over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2022, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls can prevent all
errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives
of the control system are met. There are inherent limitations in all control systems, including the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of one or more
persons. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in any control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Refer to Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A. of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2021 and the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Exhibit
No.
1.1
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**
32.2**
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Description
Underwriting Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2022, by and among Cadre Holdings, Inc., the selling stockholders named therein, and each of
BofA Securities, Inc. and Jefferies LLC, as representatives of the several underwriters named therein (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 14, 2022).

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*

Filed
herewith
** Furnished herewith. The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished
and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
CADRE HOLDINGS, INC.
By:
/s/ Warren B. Kanders
Name:
Warren B. Kanders
Title:
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 11, 2022

Date: August 11, 2022

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Blaine Browers
Blaine Brower
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

41

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Blaine Browers, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cadre Holdings, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: August 11, 2022

\

By:
/s/ Blaine Browers
Name: Blaine Browers
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Warren B. Kanders, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cadre Holdings, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: August 11, 2022

By:
/s/ Warren B. Kanders
Name: Warren B. Kanders
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cadre Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Blaine Browers, Chief Financial Officer, certify to my knowledge, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

2Date: August 11, 2022

By:
/s/ Blaine Browers
Name: Blaine Browers
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cadre Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Warren B. Kanders, Chief Executive Officer, certify to my knowledge, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
Date: August 11, 2022

By:
/s/ Warren B. Kanders
Name: Warren B. Kanders
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

